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Ms Aphrodite Smagadi,

Secretary, Aarhus Convention Compliance Committee,

United Nations Economic Commission for Europe,

Environment, Housing and Land Management Division,
Bureau 348,

Palais des Nations,

CH-1211 Geneva 10,

Switzerland.
21st February 2011

Dear Ms Smagadi,

Re: UK Follow-up on communications ACCC/C/2008/23, ACCC/C/2008/27 and ACCC/C/2008/33

We write further to the UK’s response to the Secretariat regarding communications ACCC/C/2008/23, ACCC/C/2008/27 and ACCC/C/2008/33 dated 15th February 2011.

We welcome the Government’s recognition that amendments to the Civil Procedure Rules are necessary to bring the UK into compliance with the provisions of the Aarhus Convention. However, we are concerned that the proposals outlined in the letter will not address the findings and recommendations of the Compliance Committee.  We outline these reasons below, but first preface these comments with a general point.

CAJE is somewhat bemused about the timing of these proposals.  They come the day after the close of a three-month Government consultation on civil litigation costs and funding (which made specific reference to environmental cases) and before the close of a public consultation on injunctive relief.  This is particularly pertinent because (as ever) the “devil is in the detail” and the detail of these proposals: (i) did not form part of the public consultation; and (2) is highly relevant to the question as to whether the proposals are sufficient to bring the UK into compliance with the Convention.

As to the first issue, we can only assume that these proposals have been worked up in parallel to the public consultation.  Thus, not only has the Government missed the opportunity to engage relevant stakeholders, including CAJE, in the detail (who could have highlighted why the proposals do not address the inherent flaws in the present costs regime) – it also seems to resulted in a rather confusing consultation paper in which it was not clear at all what was being proposed for environmental cases. 
We now turn to our specific concerns about the proposals in the UK’s letter to the Secretariat.

1. PPD vs Aarhus Claims

The Annex to the UK’s letter (key features of proposed rule changes) states that “The court will grant a PCO in a PPD claim …”.   As such, the proposals would be limited to cases covered by the EC Public Participation Directive (i.e. effectively cases concerning Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Integrated Pollution prevention and Control (IPPC)) and do not have the capacity to make the UK compliant with Article 9(4) of the Aarhus Convention.  In the light of the judgment of the Court of Appeal in Morgan v Hinton Organics ([2009] EWCA Civ 107, paragraph 44), CAJE believes that proposals to address prohibitive expense should apply to all civil environmental claims in order to ensure compliance with Article 9(4) of the Convention.
2. PCOs with a cap at £25,000
The Government confirms that the court will make a protective costs order if it is satisfied that the costs would otherwise be prohibitively expensive. Where the applicant is an individual, the court will proceed on the basis that a PCO should be made and a cost-cap of £25,000 will automatically apply.  Applicants will not need to show any evidence of means in order to benefit from this cap.
There are several problems with this approach:

(a)
What is the rationale for £25,000 as an appropriate cap?  Is it based on an analysis of previous PCO caps? or disposable income distributions? or some other factor?  Albeit with slightly out of date figures (2006), 66% of families have a net (i.e. after tax) income of £25K. So that means that, for two-thirds of families, a costs liability in that order would represent a year of their disposable income.  Is this considered to be “not prohibitively expensive”?  Perhaps the Secretariat could clarify the basis for choosing this figure as an appropriate cap?
 

The simple fact is that, as illustrated above, a costs cap of £25,000 is still prohibitively expense for the vast majority of individuals.  Applicants will therefore routinely request a lower cap, which takes us back to: (1) uncertainty at the outset of the case as to what costs liability a claimant will face; and (2) judges having to undertake some form of public means testing and, ultimately, exercise a subjective judgment as to what each individual, on a case by case basis, can afford.  As has been highlighted in the Sullivan Update report (August 2010, para 31 (iv)), it would be highly undesirable for judges to be required to carry out assessments on the means of the parties.  If it is to be done properly, it would be a time-consuming exercise, demanding a significant amount of time of judicial resources and disproportionate to the potential gain in terms of securing modest additional protection to the public purse.  It is also intrusive, exposing information about claimants’ personal circumstances that should not be disclosed in open court.
(b) The subjective/objective question

Thus, for the vast majority of the population, this approach takes us back to a subjective assessment.  Both CAJE and Lord Justice’s Sullivan’s Working Group on Access to Environmental Justice have highlighted that the inherent flaw in the Corner House regime is that it addresses the issue of prohibitive expense on a purely subjective basis.  As recognised by Sullivan, LJ in Garner and the Supreme Court in Edwards, the balance is now more in favour of an objective test (although we await the ruling of the European Court of Justice on this matter).  
CAJE believes that a fundamentally new approach is required because little of the thinking which went into framing the Corner House rules applies in environmental cases: there is an inherent public interest in such challenges (per Garner), the defendant’s financial position is not relevant, the costs level set must avoid “prohibitive expensive” (such that the “reasonableness test” is insufficient) and (overall) where an order is required it must be made (to comply with the relevant EC Directives and the Aarhus Convention), rather than remaining discretionary (as per Corner House).  We are, therefore, rather confused as to why the UK Government suggests in its letter to the Secretariat that the amended rules will reflect the PCO regime as developed in Garner – this is simply not the case.
(c) The position with regard to community/residents groups and NGOs is entirely unclear.  The UK confirms that where an individual member of the public is acting on behalf of an organisation, the automatic cap of £25,000 will not apply.  Thus, we are again back to absolute uncertainty at the outset of the case as to the costs liability the individual (or the group as a whole) will face if they lose the case and a subjective judgment on the part of the judge as to the appropriate level of the cap.  Similarly, the position with regard to environmental NGOs is simply not addressed.
(d) The Annex to the UK’s letter (key features of proposed rule changes) states “cross caps will be permitted. The level of the cross cap will be decided on the basis of the same factors as apply in determining the level of the cap on the claimant’s liability to pay their opponent’s costs; but if a funding arrangement is in place, the cap will be assessed by reference to the base costs, exclusive of the funding arrangement”. In essence, what DEFRA is saying is that environmental lawyers acting for claimants must subsidise the litigation. In overall terms, CAJE has no objection to the principle of a cap (which is designed to that the public authority knows its maximum exposure in the litigation). However, the cap should be set as a pre-estimate applying the ordinary rules of cost assessment i.e. not simply by reversing the cap on defendant’s liability.
3. Confusion and satellite litigation
The Government then suggests that, in the longer term, a system of Qualified One-Way Costs Shifting (QuOCS) may be introduced.  Whilst this is the approach favoured by CAJE and Lord Justice Sullivan’s Working Group, we remain sceptical that the Government will move to a substantially different approach having so recently amended the PCO rules.  After nearly a decade of intense lobbying by CAJE and others, the Government is now seeking to address the problem of prohibitive expense in environmental cases – it could well be another decade before we move to a system of QuOCS.  In our view, it would be preferable for the Government to consider the results of the public consultation before jumping to any hasty and/or poorly conceived conclusions.  The danger of moving ahead with a system that remains inherently flawed is that it could exacerbate confusion and lead to more costly and time consuming satellite litigation.
4. Cross-undertakings in Damages

The Government states that it is rare for a third party to take any action while a judicial review is pending and that, therefore, interim injunctions and cross undertakings are rarely required.  The Government alleges that despite requests to defendant representatives working in this area, it has not been able to identify recent examples of claims that have not been taken forward because of the financial burden that a cross undertaking in damages would pose.  It then confirms that a public consultation on the issue was launched on 24 November 2010 and closes on 24 February.  
CAJE has not yet finalised its response to the public consultation, however, we will send the Secretariat a copy of our comments as soon as possible.  However, we can confirm that our response contains recent examples of claimants who would have applied for interim relief had the issue of cross—undertakings not been a significant barrier.  It seems somewhat premature of the Government to make such statements before the consultation has concluded and we are unclear as to the basis upon which these assertions are made.  Perhaps the Secretariat could request a copy of any research undertaken by Defra on this aspect of the proposals?

To conclude, whilst CAJE welcomes the Government’s commitment to full implementation of the Convention in the UK, CAJE remains concerned that these proposals do not provide a satisfactory solution.  We urge the Government to wait and fully consider the responses to the public consultation exercise on these issues.
Yours sincerely,

Carol Day

Solicitor

WWF-UK (on behalf of CAJE)
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